RECEIVED

Feb 07 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Judge for Sixth Judicial Circuit

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Did the trial court err by granting Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Plaintiff's numerous causes of action for tortious interference with the parent-child relationship under the holding that South Carolina does not recognize the common law doctrine of tortious interference with the parent-child relationship?
  
- II. Did the trial court err in failing to find that the Complaint sufficiently alleged a breach of fiduciary duty between Plaintiff and Defendants Richard Winn Academy and Kristen Chaisson?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On January 16, 2021, Plaintiff Robin Allen (“Allen”) brought this action against the private school Richard Winn Academy (“Winn Academy”), Kristen Chaisson (individually and as head of Winn Academy), and John Ryan, II (“Ryan”), individually. (R. p. -9-) Allen alleges that the Defendants breached her parental rights of her then-minor daughter Zoe Mitsakos through interferences with the parent-child relationship, breach of contract and quantum meruit, breach of fiduciary duty, and attorney’s fees. (R. p.-10-) Defendants answered and denied all wrongdoing, (R. p. -24- and R. p. -53-) filing concurrent Rule 12(b)(6) Motions to Dismiss. (R. p. -46- and R. p.-56-) Plaintiff issued general Replies to Defendants’ Answers and Counterclaims (R. p. -58-) and filed a Return to Defendant’s Motion for Partial Dismissal. (R. p. -61-)

On March 19, 2021, Judge Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., presided over a Virtual Motions Hearing for the Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss. (R. p. -1-) On April 28, 2021, Judge Griffith issued an Order Granting Motion for Partial Dismissal of Defendants Richard Winn Academy and Kristen Chaisson and Motion to Dismiss on behalf of John Ryan, II. (R. p. -1-) The Court dismissed the Complaint’s causes of action for intentional tortious interference with parental rights; negligent tortious interference with parental rights; intentional breach of fiduciary duty; negligent tortious interference with contracts; and attorney fees and held that such dismissal disposed of Ryan as a Defendant. Order Granting Mot. To Dismiss. (R. p. -1-)

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Generally, important questions of novel impression should not be decided on a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, motion to dismiss. Instead, a novel issue is best decided with further development of the facts. *Evans v. State*, 344 S.C. 60 (S.C. 2001); *Tyler v. Macks Stores of*

*South Carolina, Inc.*, 273 SC 456 (SC 1980). However, where the dispute is not as to the underlying facts but as to interpretation of the law, and development of the record will not aid in the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. *Brown v. Theos*, 338 S.C. 305 (Ct.App.1999).

On appeal, the same standard of review mirrors the discretion the trial court used on a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of a cause of action. *Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 42, (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646 (2009)). A trial court has abused its discretion when the court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. *Conner v. City of Forest Acres*, 363 S.C. 460, 467 (2005) (citing *Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp.*, 305 S.C. 187, 193 (1991); *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538 (1987)). An abuse of discretion occurs:

- 1) when the trial court's ruling is based upon an error of law;
- 2) when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support;
- 3) when the circuit court is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or
- 4) when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case, such that it may be deemed arbitrary and capricious. *State v. McClinton*, 369 S.C. 167, 169, 631 S.E.2d 895, 896 (2006) (citing *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 539 (1987); *S.E.C. v. TheStreet.Com*, 273 F.3d 222, 229 n.6 (2nd Cir. 2001)).

However, appellate courts have also held, if a trial court commits an error of law regarding a novel question, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411 (2000).

## FACTS

Plaintiff-Appellant Robin Allen is the mother of Zoe Mitsakos, (“Zoe”) a former minor child. On or about March 13, 2020, Allen entered a contract with Richard Winn Academy (“Winn”) to provide educational services to Zoe. Allen was also employed as a teacher with Richard Winn for approximately four (4) years until her resignation as a result of this matter. Allen learned that Respondent-Defendant Chaisson, Head Mistress of Richard Winn, and Respondent-Defendant Ryan, were playing a significant role in supporting and advising Zoe. On or about September 26, 2020, Zoe, at seventeen (17) years old, left home without permission. Zoe was later found, with the assistance of the police, at the home of Ryan. Shortly thereafter, Zoe turned eighteen (18) and immediately left home and began residing with Ryan. Moreover, without any knowledge, and despite an existing contract, Chaisson facilitated the issuance on a new enrollment contract with Zoe and Ricard Winn to finish her senior year. Defendants/Respondents’ interference and resulting alienation has resulted in Plaintiff/Appellant mother having no further opportunity to see or speak with her daughter Zoe.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ RULE 12(B)(6) MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF’S NUMEROUS CAUSES OF ACTION FOR TORTUOUS INTERFERENCE WITH THE PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER THE HOLDING THAT SOUTH CAROLINA DOES NOT RECOGNIZE THE COMMON LAW DOCTRINE OF TORTUOUS INTERFERENCE WITH THE PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIP**

#### **A. Important Questions of Novel Impression**

Generally, “important questions of novel impression should *not* be decided on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.” *Evans v. State*, 543 S.E.2d 547, 551 (S.C. 2001) (quoting

*Tyler v. Macks Stores of South Carolina, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 456 (1980) (emphasis added). Rather, a novel issue is best decided with evidence presented at trial. *Id.* When a trial court does dismiss a novel issue of law, if the only dispute is one of interpretation of the law and not the underlying facts, the development of which “will not aid in the resolution of the issues,” this is a proper use of the trial court’s discretion. *Id.* (citing *Brown v. Theos*, 338 S.C. 305 (Ct.App.1999)).

The crux of Defendants’ argument in this case is that South Carolina does not recognize tortious interference with parental rights, under either an intentional or negligent standard. Tr. of Oral Argument for Mot. To Dismiss, p. 4 at 13-14.

The trial court agreed with this argument, holding

[w]hile South Carolina courts have recognized that parents have a right under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from State interference with the parent-child relationship, they have not recognized a common law claim for tortious interference with parental rights (whether intentional, negligent, or otherwise) against private parties like the Defendants. Order Granting Mot. To Dismiss.

Further, the trial court noted that “[t]he Plaintiff acknowledges as much.” *Id.*

These statements contain both a legal and a factual error.

Legally, South Carolina codifies our adherence to the common law of England in absence of statutory, Constitutional, or common law alterations: “All, and every part, of the common law of England, where it is not altered by the Code or inconsistent with the Constitution or laws of this State, is hereby continued in full force and effect in the same manner as before the adoption of this section.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-1-50.

The Virginia Supreme Court found precedent in common law of tortious interference with parental rights stating, “Prior to 1607, a comparable cause of action did lie in England,

providing a father with recourse for the abduction of his heir or sons rendering services."

*Wyatt v. McDermott*, 283 Va. 685, 725 S.E.2d 555, 559 (2012).

Plaintiff/Appellant's action has evolved in our modern era to permit either parent a remedy, not just for loss of service, but for loss of companionship, the inherent value of relationship between parents and children, and the emotional harm as a result of the loss of the relationship. The Restatement (Second) of Torts § 700 recites a more modern version:

"One who, with knowledge that the parent does not consent, abducts or otherwise compels or induces a minor child to leave a parent legally entitled to its custody or not return to the parent after it has been left him, is subjected to liability to the parent."

Further, as noted in Plaintiff's Return to the Defendant's Motion for Partial Dismissal, the Defendants' reliance on *Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144 (S.C. 2011), bolstered the Plaintiff's argument that the trial court should have denied the Defendants' Rule 12(b)(6) motion. As noted in the Plaintiff's Return, *Cole Vision's* refusal to adopt the stand-alone tort of spoliation of evidence due to four (4) factors:

- 1) the availability of existing remedies;
- 2) the public policy of adoption of the tort;
- 3) the speculative degree of damages; and
- 4) the potential for duplicative and inconsistent litigation. *Id.* at 151-154.

## **B. The *Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs* ("Cole Vision") Factors**

### **i. The Availability of Existing Remedies**

With respect to the availability of existing remedies, the *Cole Vision* court noted the availability of jury instructions or striking a party's pleadings in cases where evidence has been lost. *Id.* at 152. In this case, disturbingly neither South Carolina's courts nor statutory scheme

provide a civil remedy for inducing a minor child into leaving home and staying with a non-custodial, non-guardian third party.

While a parent can presumably report to the police a potential kidnapping in a case like Allen's, further factual development including discovery methods, deposition and potential trial testimony is necessary regarding the circumstances of the inducement of the minor to leave home. Such development of the record in a truly puzzling, troubling case where a school and other third parties allegedly induced a child to stay with a third party, bypassing any legal method of obtaining custody, that cries for factual development due to the potential for delineating the bounds of tortuous interference with the parent-child relationship by a private school and third-party individual.

#### **ii. The Public Policy of the Adoption of the Tort**

With respect to the public policy of the adoption of the tort, the United States Supreme Court has consistently protected parents' liberty issues of parents with respect to the care, custody, and control of their children. *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000). *Troxel* summarized the importance of parents' liberty interest:

The liberty interest at issue in this case -- the interest of parents in the care, custody, and control of their children -- is perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests recognized by this Court. More than 75 years ago, in *Meyer v. Nebraska*, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 401.... (1923), we held that the "liberty" protected by the Due Process Clause includes the right of parents to "establish a home and bring up children" and "to control the education of their own." Two years later, in *Pierce v. Society of Sisters*, 268 U.S. 510, 534-535.... (1925), we again held that the "liberty of parents and guardians" includes the right "to direct the upbringing and education of children under their control." We explained in *Pierce* that "the child is not the mere creature of the State; those who nurture him and direct his destiny have the right, coupled with the high duty, to recognize and prepare him for additional obligations." 268 U.S. at 535. We returned to the subject in *Prince v. Massachusetts*, 321 U.S. 158, 88 L. Ed. 645, 64 S. Ct. 438 (1944), and again confirmed that there is a

constitutional dimension to the right of parents to direct the upbringing of their children. " It is cardinal with us that the custody, care and nurture of the child reside first in the parents, whose primary function and freedom include preparation for obligations the state can neither supply nor hinder." 321 U.S. at 166. *Id.* at 65-66.

In the above-cited case *Meyer v. Nebraska*, the U.S. Supreme Court's finding a state statute that prohibited schools (both public and private) from teaching certain students a language other than English arbitrary and not reasonably relation to any relevant end is in fact salient for Allen's case at hand. 262 U.S. 390, 403 (1923). South Carolina common law has the same force as statutory law when not in conflict, and by ignoring the opportunity to hear on the merits a case where a private school and others, induces a minor to leave home and violate the sanctity of the parent's liberty interest in protecting her child and directing the child's education, the trial court foreclosed development of the record on a troublesome situation by its very dismissal opens the floodgates to truancy and improper motives, including criminal, of suspicious third parties and those who abuse power in school settings.

Further, as noted in *Meyer*, "[t]he American people have always regarded education and acquisition of knowledge as matters of supreme importance which should be diligently promoted.....Corresponding to the right of control, it is the natural duty of the parent to give his children education suitable to their station in life; and nearly all the States, including Nebraska, enforce this obligation by compulsory laws." 262 U.S. 390, 400 (1923).

This holding applies to *both* public and private schools. While the case dealt with statutory prohibition, in this case the trial court's essential holding is that South Carolina common law does not in fact prevent private schools and other third parties from interfering with the rights of parents. This is contrary to the law of the land.

Additionally, *Pierce v. Society of Sisters* dealt with a state statute that required parents to send students of a certain age to public school. 268 U.S. 510 (1925). First, the U.S. Supreme Court held:

[n]o question is raised concerning the power of the State reasonably to regulate *all schools*, to inspect, supervise and examine them, their teachers and pupils; to require that all children of proper age attend some school, *that teachers shall be of good moral character and patriotic disposition*, that certain studies plainly essential to good citizenship must be taught, and that nothing be taught which is manifestly inimical to the public welfare. *Id.* at 268 U.S. 510, 534 (1925) (emphasis added).

Further, the Court held that under *Meyer v. Nebraska*, the rights of parents and guardians to control the upbringing and education of their children could not be abrogated by unreasonable legislation, noting “[t]he child is not the mere creature of the State; those who nurture him and direct his destiny have the right, *coupled with the high duty*, to recognize and prepare him for additional obligations.” *Id.* at 534-35 (1925) (emphasis added). In Allen’s case, the trial court’s granting the Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss any claims of tortious interference with parental rights is effectively an unreasonable, common-law abrogation of the parental rights to control the *upbringing and education* of their children. The trial court shut the door on allowing development of the record regarding the special duties that public *and private* schools have to children:

[w]hile South Carolina courts have recognized that parents have a right under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from State interference with the parent-child relationship, they have not recognized a common law claim for tortious interference with parental rights (whether intentional, negligent, or otherwise) against *private parties* like the Defendants. (emphasis added).

### **iii. The Speculative Degree of Damages**

As noted in the Plaintiff's Return, "[t]he Supreme Courts of Virginia and Florida citing its similar statute found [the tort of interference with parental rights] within the public policy stating:

In sum, it is clearly the case that this ancient writ—today labeled tortious interference with parental rights—did exist in English common law in 1607, that it can be construed in a manner not repugnant to the Bill of Rights and the Constitution of the Commonwealth, and that no affirmative steps have been taken by the legislature to renounce the tort. We therefore answer the first certified question of law in the affirmative.”

*Wyatt v. McDermott*, 283 Va. 685, 725 S.E.2d 555 (2012).

Further, with respect to damages, the *Wyatt* court was easily able to delineate intentional and negligent remedies:

modern iteration of this common law tort encompasses both tangible and intangible damages, including compensatory damages for the expenses incurred in seeking the recovery of the child, lost services, lost companionship, and mental anguish. “[I]f a tortfeasor's tort was intentional rather than negligent, i.e., deliberately committed with intent to harm the victim ... and if the evidence is sufficient to support an award of compensatory damages, the victim's right to punitive damages and the quantum thereof are jury questions.” *Id.* (citing *Smith v. Litten*, 256 Va. 573, 579, 507 S.E.2d 77, 80 (1998); see also *Giant of Virginia, Inc. v. Pigg*, 207 Va. 679, 685–86, 152 S.E.2d 271, 277 (1967)).

#### **iv. Duplicate and Inconsistent Litigation**

Remanding this case for further factual development on the potential tortuous interference with the Plaintiff's relationship with her child cannot create this problem, as the trial court itself noted that this potential tort was not currently recognized as a tort in South Carolina.

### **C. The Need for Factual Development of the Record**

The factual error misconstruing Plaintiff's counsel position is evident. Plaintiff's counsel specifically disagreed with the trial court's statement that South Carolina does not recognize a common law claim for tortious interference with parental rights:

As far as the negligent interference of parent rights, your Honor, it probably may well be recognized in South Carolina law, and again, I'm going refer to the case law that was cited in Wyatt v. McDermott and it is also said within the response to the motion to dismiss. In 1607, they looked at the English Common Law that did find that there was common law back then that would prevail on the tortious interference of parental rights. South Carolina had that same Common Law language that Virginia does. So we do believe it may be there; it's just not necessaril [sic] worded as "tortious interference of parental rights." Back then, it was interference of the father's right to the child as far as labor and the benefit of the child to the house. So we do believe it's probably there, it's just never officially recognized within the State of South Carolina. Tr. pp. 8-9, at 10-25, 1-2.

In Plaintiff Counsel's Return to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff argues:

While South Carolina and Federal Courts have recognized that parents have a right under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from State interference with the parent-child relationship, they, as of yet, have not recognized a common law claim for tortious interference with parental rights against third parties like Richard Winn, Ms. Chaisson, or Mr. Ryan. Accordingly, nor has it, to the Plaintiffs knowledge been argued in South Carolina.

Plaintiff's Return to Defendant's Motion for Partial Dismissal at 2.

Truly, the novel issue of the specific tort of a third parties' interference with parental rights may not have been argued in South Carolina, but South Carolina's intent to keep this common law tort intact is evident in *Russo v. Sutton*<sup>1</sup>, where the South Carolina Supreme Court

---

<sup>1</sup> At one time, criminal conversation was based on the premise that one who interfered with the husband's right of exclusive possession of his wife's body was liable in trespass to the husband for injury done by seducing the wife. *Haney v. Townsend*, 12 S.C.L. (1 McCord) 207 (1821) The basis for the common law regarding criminal conversation evolved, so that the law regarded the purpose of criminal conversation to be the protection of the marriage relationship against those who might wrongfully intrude, even when the possibility of reconciliation is

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