RECEIVED

Feb 24 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000561
Civil Action No. 2021-CP-20-00026

Robin Allen,.....Appellant,

v.

Richard Winn Academy, Kristen Chaisson
(in her individual capacity and as Head of
School), and John Ryan II,..... Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

Curtis W. Dowling, S.C. Bar No. 6493
Matthew G. Gerrald, S.C. Bar No. 76236
Barnes, Alford, Stork & Johnson, LLP
1613 Main Street (29201)
Post Office Box 8448
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 799-1111

Creighton B. Coleman, S.C. Bar No. 6521

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

ARGUMENTS

I. NOVEL ISSUES MAY BE RESOLVED ON A MOTION TO DISMISS WHERE THE DISPUTE IS SOLELY AS TO THE INTERPRETATION OF THE LAW.

Appellant’s initial argument is that it was improper for the Circuit Court to address an issue of (purportedly) novel impression at the motion to dismiss stage. It is true, and the Order noted, that “[a]s a general rule, important questions of novel impression should not be decided on a motion to dismiss.” Madison v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 358 S.C. 449, 451, 595 S.E.2d 493, 494 (2004). (R. p. 3). However, the Order also noted that “[w]here . . . the dispute is not as to the underlying facts but as to the interpretation of the law, and development of the record will not aid in the resolution of the issues, it is proper to decide even novel issues on a motion to dismiss.” Madison, 358 S.C. at 451, 595 S.E.2d at 494. (R. p. 3). Cf. Kubic v. MERSCORP Holdings, Inc., 416 S.C. 161, 168, 785 S.E.2d 595, 598 (2016) (“[A] trial court should not deny a meritorious motion merely because the question is one of first impression.”).

The supposedly novel question presented by Respondents’ motions—whether South Carolina law recognizes a cause of action for tortious interference with parental rights—involved a dispute solely as to the interpretation of the law. Development of a factual record would not have changed the answer, and thus it was proper for the Circuit Court to address the issue. See, e.g., Palmer v. State, 427 S.C. 36, 43, 829 S.E.2d 255, 259 (Ct. App. 2019) (“[B]ecause the issue concerns the interpretation of the law, we find the circuit court did not err in dismissing the case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) in spite of it being a novel issue.”); Unisys Corp. v. S.C. Budget & Control Bd. Div. of Gen. Servs. Info. Tech. Mgmt. Office, 346 S.C. 158, 165, 551 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2001) (affirming a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal despite the existence of “novel and complex issues” because “the questions involved [were] questions of law” and there were “no factual issues that require[d] further development”).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED APPELLANT’S CAUSES OF ACTION FOR TORTIOUS INTEFERENCE WITH PARENTAL RIGHTS.

A. South Carolina does not recognize such a cause of action.

The Order acknowledged that South Carolina recognizes the constitutional right of parents to be free from state interference with the parent-child relationship. (R. p. 3). However, as Appellant has admitted,¹ our courts have never recognized a cause of action against private parties (such as Respondents) for tortious interference with parental rights. See, e.g., South Carolina Damages § VI.29.B.14 (2009) (“Tortious Interference with

¹ Appellant seems to dispute this admission in her brief, yet she wrote in her Return to the Defendant’s Motion for Partial Dismissal that South Carolina courts “have not recognized a common law claim for tortious interference with parental rights against third parties like Richard Winn, Ms. Chaisson, or Mr. Ryan.” (R. p. 62).

Parental Rights is a cause of action that is not yet recognized in South Carolina.”). Accordingly, the Complaint’s first through eighth causes of action were properly dismissed. See, e.g., Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs, 394 S.C. 144, 154, 714 S.E.2d 537, 542 (2011) (approving the circuit court’s dismissal of a counterclaim cause of action for spoliation of evidence because South Carolina does not recognize such a claim); Gaskins v. S. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co., 343 S.C. 666, 672, 541 S.E.2d 269, 272 (Ct. App. 2000) (affirming dismissal of the plaintiff’s bad faith claim because South Carolina does not recognize third party bad faith claims). See also Kent v. Hennelly, No. 9:19-cv-01383-DCN, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 195563, at *34-35 (D.S.C. Nov. 12, 2019) (dismissing a cause of action for false light invasion of privacy because such a cause of action does not exist under South Carolina law); Awkard v. Rammelsberg, No. 4:17-cv-01542-RBH-KDW, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 168067, at *32 n.13 (D.S.C. Mar. 13, 2018) (recommending dismissal of a claim for reckless infliction of emotional distress because South Carolina does not recognize such a cause of action); Grayson v. Anderson, 816 F.3d 262, 271-72 (4th Cir. 2016) (affirming dismissal of the plaintiff’s claim for aiding and abetting fraud because no such cause of action exists in South Carolina).

B. Such a cause of action did not exist at common law.

Appellant argues that a cause of action for tortious interference with parental rights existed under the English common law² and is thus part of South Carolina law pursuant to

² In support of this argument, Appellant relies entirely on Wyatt v. McDermott, 725 S.E.2d 555 (Va. 2012), in which an extraordinarily egregious set of facts—a baby’s biological mother went to great lengths to prevent the father from asserting his parental rights even though she did not want to keep the baby—prompted the Virginia Supreme Court to fashion a remedy. Wyatt is both: (a) distinguishable based on its vastly different fact pattern; and (b) incorrect in its conclusion that the modern tort theory summarized in Restatement (Second) of Torts § 700 existed in 17th century English common law.

S.C. Code Ann. § 14-1-50. That statute, often referred to as the Reception Statute, provides: “All, and every part, of the common law of England, where it is not altered by the Code or inconsistent with the Constitution or laws of this State, is hereby continued in full force and effect in the same manner as before the adoption of this section.” It was originally enacted by the General Assembly of the Colony of South Carolina in 1712. See State v. Simms, 412 S.C. 590, 601, 774 S.E.2d 445, 450 (2015) (Pleicones, J., dissenting). See also Huff v. Jennings, 319 S.C. 142, 148, 459 S.E.2d 886, 890 (Ct. App. 1995) (“Since its enactment in 1712, this reception statute incorporated the body of English common law into the jurisprudence of South Carolina.”).

This state’s continuation of the English common law “in the same manner as before the adoption of” the Reception Statute in 1712 does not support Appellant’s position. All eight of her causes of action for tortious interference with parental rights are based, not on supposed common law rights, but on rights ostensibly arising under the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution.³ In other words, Appellant is seeking to assert the equivalent of a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim against private, non-governmental parties who do not act under color of law. It goes without saying that no such claim existed under the English common law of 1712.

There is also a major distinction between what the common law allowed—a father could sue for deprivation of services provided by his heirs or sons—and what Appellant has attempted—to sue for “loss of companionship, the inherent value of the relationship between parents and children, and the emotional harm as a result of the loss of the

³ Paragraphs 24, 29, 33, 37, 41, 45, 49, and 53 of the Complaint allege that Respondents “interfered with [Appellant’s] State and Federal Constitutional rights to raise her child.” (R. pp. 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 & 18).

relationship.” (App. Brief at 5). The Complaint does not allege that Appellant lost the provision of services by Zoe, and thus it essentially asserts claims for loss of filial consortium. See, e.g., Doe v. Greenville Cty. Sch. Dist., 375 S.C. 63, 69-70, 651 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2007) (noting that “the intangible losses of aid, companionship, and society . . . have traditionally defined loss of consortium claims”). See also Murphy v. I.S.K.Con. of New England, Inc., 571 N.E.2d 340, 352 (Mass. 1991) (“[T]he actual basis of recovery for intentional tortious acts which interfere with a parent-child relationship is the loss of filial consortium.”). However, “South Carolina law does not recognize claims for loss of filial consortium.” Doe, 375 S.C. at 69, 651 S.E.2d at 308. See also Kirkland v. Sam’s East, Inc., 411 F. Supp. 2d 639, 641 (D.S.C. 2005) (“South Carolina does not recognize a cause of action for filial loss of consortium.”).

To reverse the Order in spite of Doe and Kirkland, the court would have to draw a distinction between relational/companionship damages in tortious interference with parental rights cases and relational/companionship damages in sexual abuse cases (such as Doe) and bodily injury cases (such as Kirkland). But why should such damages be recoverable against an actor who allegedly interferes with the parent-child relationship when they are not recoverable if that same actor sexually abuses, injures, or even kills the child? As the Supreme Court has previously found with respect to parental consortium claims, such questions are “best left to the discretion of the General Assembly.” Taylor v. Medenica, 324 S.C. 200, 222, 479 S.E.2d 35, 47 (1996).⁴

⁴ In Taylor, the Supreme Court found that, in the absence of a statute such as S.C. Code Ann. § 15-75-20, there is no right to recover for loss of consortium. 324 S.C. at 222, 479 S.E.2d at 47.

C. Such a cause of action should not be adopted.

Appellant devotes a significant portion of her brief to a four-factor analysis supposedly prescribed in Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs, 394 S.C. 144, 714 S.E.2d 537 (2011), for determining whether new causes of action should be adopted. Respondents submit that Cole did actually not prescribe such an analysis, but simply opined that public policy considerations weighed against adoption of a new tort claim (spoliation of evidence) and gave several reasons why: (1) other remedies were available; (2) damages would have been speculative; and (3) the new tort could have given rise to duplicative and inconsistent litigation. In any event, the analysis suggested by Appellant dictates that South Carolina should not recognize a new claim for tortious interference with parental rights.

i. Other remedies are already available.

Appellant points out that, in Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000), the United States Supreme Court described “the interest of parents in the care, custody, and control of their children” as “perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests recognized by this Court.” Id. at 65. That is undoubtedly true, and Respondents do not dispute that parents have a liberty interest in rearing their children. Indeed, Respondents recognized in their motions, and the Circuit Court recognized in the Order, that parents have a constitutional right to be free from state interference with the parent-child relationship. However, Troxel involved a review of whether a state’s visitation statute violated the federal Constitution, not a claim for money damages. The Court’s acknowledgement of the fundamental importance of the parent-child relationship does not mean that parents should have a filial consortium claim against third parties that allegedly interfere with that relationship, especially given the other available remedies.

Kidnapping is a criminal offense in every state, including South Carolina, where it is a felony. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910. Conspiracy to kidnap is likewise a felony. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-920. In addition to other penalties, a kidnapper (or conspirator) may be required to pay restitution to the victims of his or her crimes. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-322. Furthermore, custodial rights may be enforced under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act and possibly habeas corpus proceedings. See S.C. Code Ann. § 63-15-364; Watson v. Watson, 134 S.C. 147, 132 S.E. 39 (1926). There is simply no need to adopt a new civil cause of action when several avenues for vindication of parental or custodial rights already exist. See, e.g., Zaharias v. Gammill, 844 P.2d 137, 140 (Okla. 1992) (disapproving of the tort of interference with custodial relations and noting that “[o]ther avenues of recourse are of course available” such as habeas corpus, criminal penalties, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act, and contempt of court); Politte v. Politte, 727 S.W.2d 198, 200-01 (Mo. Ct. App. 1987) (questioning the need for a civil cause of action for tortious interference with parental rights given that the ultimate goal—prompt return of the child to its rightful custodian—can be accomplished by other means including habeas corpus, contempt, the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Acts, and criminal sanctions).

ii. Appellant’s damages would be speculative.

According to the Complaint, Zoe first ran away from Appellant’s home to Mr. Ryan’s home on or about September 26, 2020. (R. p. 12, ¶ 16). The Complaint redacts the date that Zoe turned 18 (R. p. 11, ¶ 8), but it was plainly before November 13, 2020, when Zoe allegedly entered into a contract with Richard Winn. (R. p. 11, ¶ 9). Upon turning 18, Zoe was constitutionally emancipated and free to live wherever and with whomever she

chose. See, e.g., S.C. Const. Ann. Art. XVII, § 14 (“Every citizen who is eighteen years of age or older, not laboring under disabilities prescribed in this Constitution or otherwise established by law, shall be deemed sui juris and endowed with full legal rights and responsibilities[.]”). Thus, Appellant is seeking damages for—at most—the 48-day period between September 26, 2020 and November 13, 2020. Respondents submit that any attempt to quantify the relational/companionship damages allegedly sustained by Appellant during the final seven weeks of Zoe’s minority would be wholly speculative.

iii. There is a risk of duplicative and inconsistent litigation.

As set forth above, disputes involving child custody already have the potential to give rise to possible criminal proceedings, restitution hearings, custody enforcement actions, and habeas corpus petitions. Adding another item to this menu of remedies would increase the potential for duplicative and inconsistent litigation.

iv. Other considerations weigh against adoption of such a cause of action.

In any child custody dispute, the primary concern is the best interests of the child. But the new cause of action proposed by Appellant is primarily concerned with the custodian’s vindication rather than the child’s best interests (which, as set forth above, can already be vindicated by other methods). In the words of the late Judge Barksdale:

The welfare of the child is the prime consideration in any controversy affecting the custody of a child. Controversies such as this most assuredly do not promote the welfare of the child. To treat an infant child as an article of property, the enjoyment of the possession of which is to be given a monetary valuation, cannot be conducive to its welfare. In my opinion, any possible effect which suits of this kind may have upon children must of necessity be deleterious.

Simmons v. Simmons, 41 F. Supp. 545, 548 (D.S.C. 1941). See also Larson v. Dunn, 460 N.W.2d 39, 46 (Minn. 1990) (“Creating this new tort would *create* a new wrong. It would

place innocent children in the middle of a vigorous, probably vicious, lawsuit[.]” (italics in original).

Additionally, exposing third parties to potential tort liability would contravene public policy by disincentivizing family members, private shelters, and social welfare organizations from providing assistance to troubled youth who are—or at least claim they are—escaping harmful or abusive situations.⁵ South Carolina is home to several nonprofits that exist to provide such assistance,⁶ but they may be forced to rethink their methods if their provision of aid to troubled youth could expose them to tort claims for interference with parental rights. *Cf. Larson*, 460 N.W.2d at 46-47 (“If a parent or grandparent believes a child is in danger, that parent or grandparent will probably not stop to consider tort liability before acting to protect the child. It will not add to the dignity of the law if grandparents are sued for providing shelter to their grandchildren in such situations.”).

Finally, even if the court were inclined to adopt a new cause of action for tortious interference with parental rights, this case presents a poor vehicle for doing so. Zoe was less than seven weeks from turning 18—and becoming emancipated—when she allegedly ran away to Mr. Ryan’s home for the first time. She turned 18 several months before this lawsuit was filed. And because she is now 18, there is no custody issue presented. All that

⁵ This public policy is notably embodied in the Runaway and Homeless Youth Protection Act, in which Congress sought to address a crisis of “youth who have become homeless or who leave and remain away from home without parental permission” and “are at risk of developing, and have a disproportionate share of, serious health, behavioral, and emotional problems[.]” 34 U.S.C. § 11201(1).

⁶ A Google search revealed the following organizations whose missions appear to include providing assistance to troubled youth: Carolina Youth Development Center, Hope Center for Children, Palmetto Place, Sea Haven for Youth, and United Way. Of course, this is not an exhaustive list.

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